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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

*

KELLY R.HURTT, *
Plaintiff *
V. * CIVIL NO. JKB-12-445

BALTIMORE CNTY., MARYLAND, etal, *

Defendants *

* * * * * * * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM

Pending before the Court is Defendants’ motior summary judgment as to all claims in
Plaintiff Kelly R. Hurtt's suit claiming emplyment discrimination and retaliation. (ECF
No. 27.) The Court has considered Plairgifbpposition (ECF No. 33) and Defendants’ reply
(ECF No. 40) and found no hearing necesshocal Rule 105.6 (D. Md. 2011). The motion

will be granted.

|. Background

Plaintiff Hurtt filed this suit against Baltimore County, Maryldntimes P. O’'Neill, who
was, during the time referenced in the ctanm, the director of the Baltimore County
Department of Corrections (“Department”); StraTyler, who was and is the program manager
in charge of all nonsecurity aspe of the Department and theradit supervisor of Patricia
Alderman; and Patricia Alderman, who was anthis head of the Alternative Sentencing Unit

(“ASU") and who was Hurtt’'s diret supervisor. (Am. Compf[{ 5-8, 16; Pl.'s Opp’'n, Ex. 21,

! Plaintiff originally sued the Baltimore County Department of Corrections (Compl., ECF No. 1), but
substituted Baltimore County for the Department in her amended complaint (ECF No. 6). The Department was,
therefore, terminated as a party.
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Tyler Dep. 9:20—10:9, 13:10-12, Mar. 14, 201, B0, Alderman Dep. 8:4-7, Mar. 7, 20%3.)
Hurtt was a correctional prograspecialist in theASU from December 5, 2005, until her
termination on August 16, 2011. (Defs.” Mot. SuppnMd.) According td'yler, “The mission

of the [ASU] is to provide court-ordered offendéng ability to completeéheir prob&ons in a
satisfactory manner by either completing commusiyvice or, if theye on the [Treatment
Accountabilities for Safer Communities] programe rehabilitate, [and] become productive
citizens of the county.” (Defaviot. Ex. 3, Tyler Dep. 10:10-17; Supp. Mem. 4-5.) Hurtt claims
in her complaint that ghwas subjected to racidiscrimination in violabn of 42 U.S.C. § 1981
(Count I); that she was retakat against in violation of 42).S.C. § 1981 (Count Il); that
Defendants violated her First Amendment righfree speech and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count IlI);
that Defendants violated her Fifth Amendmeghts to substantive amtocedural due process
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count 1V); that Defendantéated her Fourteenth Amendment right to
equal protection and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count &f)d that Defendants conspired to interfere
with her civil rights ofdue process and equal protection and to deny her equal privileges and

immunities under the laws, inatation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) (Count VI). (Am. Compl.)

[I. Standard for Summary Judgment
“The court shall grant summary judgmenthe movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fatd the movant is entitled to judgnt as a matter of law.” Fed.

R. Civ. P. 56(a),Celotex Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) (citing predecessor to

2 The Court notes the unnecessary difficulty in itseewvdf this case due to the lack of compliance by both
parties with the Court’'s Local Rule 105.4 and 105.5, which establish the standards for providing a table of contents
for lengthy memoranda and the organization and presentation of exhibits. Neither padgdtbeirequired table
of contents, and neither party tabbed their exhibits. Instead, the Court was essentially presetwedstéttks of
undifferentiated pages and expected to hunt through them for individual exitiith totaled 23 for each side. In
addition, Defendants provided no index to their exhibits, making the hunt even more difficult. Counsel are
cautioned that these procedural rules do matter to the Court and counsel, therefore, risk having thsiorssibm
rejected in the future by the Court for failure to comply with the Local Rules.
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current Rule 56(a)). The burden is on theving party to demonstrate the absence of any
genuine dispute of material faciAdickes v. S.H. Kress & Ca398 U.S. 144, 157 (1970). If
sufficient evidence exists forraasonable jury to render a vietdn favor of the party opposing
the motion, then a genuine dispute of matedat fs presented and summary judgment should be
denied. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ind77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). However, the “mere
existence of a scintilla of evidea in support of the [opposing padyposition” is insufficient to
defeat a motion for summary judgmend. at 252. The facts themselves, and the inferences to
be drawn from the underlying factsust be viewed in the liglmost favorable to the opposing
party, Scott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007)ko v. Shreve535 F.3d 225, 230 (4th Cir.
2008), who may not rest upon the mere allegatiomenials of his pleadg but instead must, by
affidavit or other evidentiary showing, set ougsiic facts showing a genuine dispute for trial,
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1). Supporting and oppgsaffidavits are to be made on personal
knowledge, contain such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and show affirmatively the

competence of the affiant to testify to the mattgated in the affidét. Rule 56(c)(4).

lll. Analysis
After its exhaustive review of the recordetlourt concludes thaiot one scintilla of
evidence supports any claims of the PI#intThis conclusion is now explained.
A. Count I: Racial Discrimination — 42 U.S.C. § 1981
Plaintiff, who is black alleges she was discriminated augaion the basisf her race.

(Am. Compl. 1 100.) Her immediate supisor, Alderman, is also blackld( § 8.) Alderman’s

® The Court has noted that Plaintiff refers to herself as black, while sometimes referring to certain people
about whom she complains as Caucasian and diihegs referring to them as white. “Black” and
“African-American” are often used intdrangeably in our country, and the Court in this opinion is simply adopting
the manner in which Plaintiff has chosen to refer to hee.rd.ikewise, the Court has utilized the term “white” and
the term “nonblack” to provide parity to its discussion.
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supervisor, Tyler, is white.ld. § 7.) O’Neill, then-director of the Department, is white. (§ 6.)
Hurtt alleges that “Defendants engaged inirgentional pattern of discrimination, harassment
and intimidation toward [her] because of herefashe also alleges she was treated differently
from nonblack employees.Id( 1 101.) She claims the terrasd conditions of her employment
were unequal to those afforded to nonblackployees, and she further claims Defendants
routinely and intentionally harassed her, becanfsber race, while she was carrying out her
assigned work duties. Id¢ 19 102, 103.) Hurtt presents a ldnglist of complaints. Some
complaints focus on disciplinary decisions bypervisors; others focus on nondisciplinary
decisions or actions by sup&uors; yet, others focus onews involving coworkers.Id. 1 20-
97.) The Court will analyze the first kind of complaint—disciplinary decisions by supervisors—
separately from the second ahdd kinds of complaint.

A claim of racial discrimination under 42 &IC. § 1981 is analyzadentically to one
made under Title VII of ta Civil Rights Act of 1964. Anderson v. Westinghouse Savannah
River Co, 406 F.3d 248, 268 n.4 (4th Cir. 2005) (citBiyant v. Aiken Reg. Med. Ctrs. In833
F.3d 536, 545 n.3 (4th Cir. 2003))pve-Lane v. Martin355 F.3d 766, 786 (4th Cir. 2004).
With regard to the allegedly discriminatory d@mary decisions by Hurtt’'s supervisors, such a
claim may be proven only with evidence ofentional discrimination underlying the adverse
employment actionsSee Hill v. Lockheed Martin Logistics Mgn854 F.3d 277, 284 (4th Cir.
2004). If neither direct nor circumstantial evidewéaliscriminatory intent is presented, then a
plaintiff may utilize the burde-shifting proof scheme dficDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green

411 U.S. 792, 802-05 (1973¥ausey v. Balogl62 F.3d 795, 800 (4th Cir. 1998). In this case,

* Not sued, but in the chain of command, is Deborah Richardson, then the deputy director and now the
director of the Department; Richardson is black. At the time of the events in the complaint, she reported to O'Neill,
was Tyler’s direct supervisor, participated in the discglnprocess involving Hurtt, and agreed with the decisions
made. (Defs.” Mot. Ex. 9, Richardson Aff.)
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Hurtt has relied upon thklcDonnell Douglasprima faciemethod of establishing Defendants’
liability. (Pl.’s Opp’n 30-36.)

Under this method of proof, @aintiff may present evidenddat she is a member of a
protected class, she was subjected to dverde employment action, and similarly situated
individuals who are not memisenf her protected class weteeated more favorably.See
McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802 and n.13 (“The factscessarily will vey in Title VII
cases, and the specification [here] of the prifacie proof required from respondent is not
necessarily applicable in every respéatdiffering factual situations.”)White v. BFI Waste
Servs, 375 F.3d 288, 295 (4th Cir. 2004). If a terntioa is at issue, thethe plaintiff must
provide evidence that she wageting her employer’s legitimategectations at the time of the
adverse employment action and that the position remained open or was filled by similarly
gualified applicants outside the protected cladssl, 354 F.3d at 285. If a plaintiff establishes a
prima facie case, then the burden shifts the employer to produce a legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for its action. Once #mployer has met that burden of production,
then the presumption of discrimination under phigna faciecase goes away and the plaintiff
must prove the employer’s proffer@ustification is pretextualWarch v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Gal35
F.3d 510, 513-14 (4th Cir. 2006)This final inquiry “merges wh the ultimate burden of
persuading the court that [tipaintiff] has been the victim ahtentional discrimination.”"Texas
Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdind50 U.S. 248, 256 (1981).

Beginning with the last, but most impanta disciplinary dedion of termination,
Defendants have proffered the Grievancppdal Decision (“GAD IlI") of the Office of
Administrative Hearings for Baltimore County. (Grievance Appeal Decision, Sept. 19, 2011,

Defs.” Mot., Ex. 16.) Hurtt was cited for violatis of several policies and procedures, including



the requirements to refrain froomarse, profane, or disrespetthnguage; to greghe public in

a courteous and professional manner and propabdéc relations by givig citizens assistance
when appropriate; not to besubordinate or disrespectful éosupervisor; to obey any lawful
command or order, either verbalwritten given by any supervisdg be strictlyresponsible for
the proper performance of her @ and to observe and maintaéie chain of command at all
times by first obtainingpermission from the employee’s immediate supervisor to see the next
higher authority. Ifl. 1) Hurtt was also cited for violations of the Baltimore County Code
pertaining to employees, specifically, for being impetent or inefficient in the performance of
her duty; for being brutal or offensive in heeatment of the public or fellow employees; for
violating any lawful official rule, regulation, or order ofailing to obey any lawful and
reasonable direction given by hepswisor; for engaging in condustich as to bring the county
classified service into disrepute; and engggin fighting or creatig any disturbance while
engaged in county businessd.2.)

GAD Il noted that the charges at issue had been preceded by other disciplinary actions
including two five-day suspensions, oneSaptember 2009 and the other in May 201d. Z.)
Additionally, it was noted that Hurltad been given counseling sessiadsZ) and that she had
been involved in approximately eleven differdrgarings during her tenure as a Department
employeeifd. 3). An administrative hemg is triggered by a supesor’'s narrative requesting
the hearing. (Alderman Dep. 7513, 77:4-14.) The purpose of administrative hearing is to
determine if discipline is needgithe hearing itself is not consited a disciplingraction. (Tyler
Dep. 23:1-8.) Verbal counselingasso not considered to be arfoof discipline; its purpose is
to correct behavior. Iq. 24:7-21.) Alderman testified in hdeposition that shhad (apparently

on an occasion different from the one that resulted in the narrative for Hurtt) written a narrative



for a white employee. (Alderman Dep. 80:5-1&he also had written feeld note, which is a
milder form of discipline, for another white employeéd. 85:5—87:2.)

It is clear from GAD IIl that Hurttwas not meeting her employer’'s legitimate
expectations at the time of her termination.e Haministrative law judge (“ALJ”) who authored
GAD Il noted he had received testimony fromd&tman and Hurtt at the grievance appeal
hearing and reviewed Hurtt's personnel fibefore reaching his decision denying Hurtt's
grievance as to her ten-day suspension and sksinfrom the Department. (GAD lll at 2-3.)
The ALJ specifically cited Alderman’s testimomslating to Hurtt's “vey poor management and
communication skills toward the [ASU] ctits she deals with on a daily basisldl. .) Further,
Alderman testified Hurtt had “failed to followhrough on setting up work assignments for the
community service hours that clientgre court ordered to perform.’ld() The ALJ also heard
Alderman testify about Hurtt's difficulty in deag with supervisors in the Department and in
following the proper chain of commd when raising complaints.ld() The file reflected, as
earlier noted, two prior ¥ie-day suspensions.ld() Alderman testified to Hurtt's “loud and
disruptive” behavior within the A3 and to “the many attempts@iunseling” directed at Hurtt's
unacceptable behaviorld()

Hurtt also testified before the ALJ, who noted that “[h]er attempts at explaining these
incidences were not well reasoned and hergmtasion was difficult at times to follow.”Id. 3.)
The ALJ concluded that “therexists clear and convincing eeidce that Ms. Hurtt has been
insubordinate and disrespecttol her immediate supervisor, BIrAlderman, and that she has
failed to obey the lawful orders given to her by sepervisors and has treated her clients as well
as members of the public in ade and disrespectful manner.lId.j He noted that the prior

attempts at progressive discipline with HurtdHzeen unsuccessful because “her disrespectful



and insubordinate demeanor continuesexast within the department.” Id.) After the ALJ
denied Hurtt’s grievance appeahe took a further appeal to tRersonnel and Salary Advisory
Board (“Board”) of Baltimore County, whichsad held a hearing and received testimony and
evidence as well as angents of counsel for both partiegDefs.” Mot. Ex. 17, PSAB Order,
Dec. 14, 2011.) Based on that hearing, the Badapted the written opinion of the ALJ and
denied Hurtt's appeal.ld.)) Because the evidence before @ourt shows Hurtt was not meeting
her employer’s legitimate expectations wher stas terminated, she is unable to meet this
element of theprima facie case as to this disciplinary decision. In addition, no evidence of
nonblack comparators is before the Court, starnot be inferred that her termination for the
conduct in which she engaged was a less favomlitome than any disciplinary proceeding for
similar conduct by nonblack employees. Evei dould be concluded that Hurtt met ghema
facie case, Defendants have produced legitimad@discriminatory reasorfer her termination,
and Hurtt has provided no evidence of pretext.

Next, the Court examines the two five-day suspension decisioresse Hie subject to a
similar kind of analysis pertaining to tlpgima faciecase. Although these decisions related to
different incidents, they were both dealttlwiat the same time by the Labor Commissioner
Designee (apparently, a similar positiontt@mt of administrative law judgesee Defs.” Mot.
Supp. Mem. 6 n.6) as well as the Board. Hurttisxgmces were denied in both instances, with
the hearing officer, and ultimately the Board, dadmg that Hurtt had “engaged in brutal or
offensive treatment of fellow employees andesg malicious gossip or rumors about her
supervisor” [d. Ex. 13, PSAB Order, Mar. 24, 2011) andd‘defuse to follow the direct and
lawful order by a Supervisor when she was toldy to sign her name to a form and instead

chose to write additional comments$d.(Ex. 15, PSAB Order, Mar. 24, 2011). Because Hurtt’s



behavior underlying these suspensions was contoattye Department’s legitimate expectations
of her job performance, she alsaldao satisfy this element of th@ima faciecase as to these
two disciplinary decisions. Further, these suspensions cannot be judged to be imposed in a
fashion less favorable to Hurtt than to nonblack employees because no nonblack comparators’
evidence is before the Court. Agth her termination, if it is @sumed that she has satisfied the
elements of theprima facie case, she has failed to overcome Defendants’ legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reasons for imposing these suspensions on her.

In her complaint, Hurtt mentions a one-weselspension but does not specify when this
occurred (Am. Compl. T 49), and no evidence teethe Court pertaining to it. (It is possible
that this allegation encompasses one of the two suspension decisions just discussed, but the
Court is unable to determine whether these @nnected or not.)Without more detail and
evidence, the allegation is irffaient in itself to support grima faciecase of discrimination.
Hurtt also mentions a written reprimand sleeaived in October 2009 relating to her use of
Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) leave.ld; 11 42-44.) The Court assunaguendo
that this written reprimand cotitsites an adverse employmentian, but notes that it occurred
during the same time she was the subject of a disciplinary action for rule violations that
precipitated one of her five-daguspensions. (Defs.” Mot. Ex. 12, Grievance Appeal Decision,
Dec. 7, 2010.) Thus, she is uralb satisfy the element of tipgima faciecase that requires a
showing that she was meeting her employdegitimate expectationat the time of the
reprimand. As well, no evidence before theu@ indicates she was treated less favorably
regarding FMLA leave than nonblack employees.

The Court considers the pealing incidents to comprise the sum total of disciplinary

decisions contested by Hurtt. With regardHortt’s claim that her terms and conditions of



employment were less favoralten similarly situated nonblagmployees, the Court has found
no evidence of any disparities aompensation, job title, assignddties, or physicalacilities.
Hurtt's complaints, while myriad, are presumabitended to suggest that she was subjected to
racial harassment that resulted in a hostile waarkironment. In order to be successful on her
claim, she must show that she experiencgdifivelcome conduct, (Based upon the plaintiff's
race, (3) that was “sufficiently severe orrymsive to alter the plaintiff's conditions of
employment and to create an abusive work enwrent” and (4) “is imputable to the employer.”
Okoli v. City of Baltimore648 F.3d 216, 220 (4th Cir. 2011) (internal quotation marks and
citations omitted).

Hurtt has complained about many things, hohe of them can be considered racial
harassment. For example, Hurtt complaingof being reimbursed by the Department for a
parking ticket she received when she parkeda restricted area while attending a court
proceeding; she alleges a white coworker waslyersed for a ticket received under the same
circumstances at an earlier time. (Am. Confyj#.20-21.) Defendants, however, have provided
Alderman’s affidavit stating clearly that the jp@tment did not reimbege the white coworker
for her ticket and, further, didot ask Baltimore County’s Revenéeaithority todo so. (Defs.’
Mot. Ex. 5, Alderman Aff. 1-2.) Hurtt haprovided no admissible &ence to controvert
Alderman’s affidavit. Hurtt also complainsathin August 2009 Alderman refused to let Hurtt
explain her position concerning violating an offendéile allowing a white coworker to explain
her actions. (Am. Compl. {1 23.) Even if trakis vague allegation does not establish racial
harassment by Alderman, who is herself of the same race as Hurtt.

Hurtt also alleges she “has been verbally attacked on several occasions by her Caucasian

coworkers in an unprofessional and volatigture while working in the unit’id. { 24), but
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provides no evidence of any specifics. Even dhsuerbal attacks had occurred, Hurtt's claim
that they amount to racial harassment is based merely on the race of the speakers, not on whether
anything they said was a product &fracially discriminatory itent or created a sufficiently
severe or pervasive atmosphere of racial hostility. Equally vagueher allegations that
Alderman insulted Hurtt several times in the presence of nonblack coworkers and “frequently
humiliated Hurtt with disparaging commen&bout her work in meetings and other open
forums.” (d. 11 26, 28.) No evidence is the record to allova conclusion that anything
Alderman said to her was either racially offelesor arose from racial animus. This conclusion

is also applicable to Hurtt's allegations ther supervisors delayed getting medical care for
Hurtt one day when Hurtt had a panic or anxigtack at the office. (Am. Compl. {1 56-58;
Hurtt Dep. 96:17—109:14.) The evidence in the reédodicates that # Department had a
standard protocol for responding to requedsts medical assistance.(Tyler Dep. 135:15—
136:12.) Further, “911” was callexzhd an ambulance dispatchedtake Hurtt to the hospital.

(Id. 138:21—139:1.) The Court is unable to determine if the Department responded differently
to Hurtt's situation based on her race besawno evidence is presented as to nonblack
comparators.

Also unmeritorious are Hurtt's claims thar complaints to supervisors about her black
supervisor and white coworkers were ignored.r gneralized complaints about others may or
may not have had any merit, but again, no envg@® shows that her complaints were about
racially offensive or discriminatg conduct, which is # concern at issue this case. And her
merely labelling others’ conduct as “discrimingtdr‘harassing,” or “rethatory” is insufficient
to carry the day. As an example of thmgslabelling, the Court notes Hurtt's deposition

testimony that a white coworker named Judgfillrinterrupted Hurtt at a staff meeting and
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“abruptly cut [her] off and got really rude wither]” (Pl.’'s Opp’n,Hurtt Dep. 54:5-12, Mar. 5,
2013) and that Hurtt told Alderman that Huditl not want to ask Trefill about a court order
because Hurtt did not “like the way [Trefill] resportds her and also told Alderman that Trefill
“makes little slurs towards” herd( 57:3-10). Rude behavior unreddtto Hurtt's race, as this
alleged conduct seems to have been, doessuifice for proof of a raally hostile work
environment. Further, Hurtt's employment of the term “slurs,” witlmoate, does not allow an
inference that anything Trefill said to Hurtt wasfact, a racial slurFinally, Hurtt's recounting
of an incident when Trefill allegedly mocked Hu—and Hurtt's complaint thereof was allegedly
not acted upon (Hurtt Dep. 59:15—60:11)—ignoregedman’s testimony that she counseled
both Hurtt and Trefill, Hurtt ecause she allegedly provokecdeflit and Trefill because she
allegedly mocked Hurtt (Alderman Dep. 97:6-19).

Hurtt also complains about an incidentemha white coworker “intentionally placed a
dirty urine sample in Hurtt's office.” (Am. Qopl. { 83.) The evidencehows that indeed a
white coworker placed a vial of urine in Hurttffice, but absolutely no evidence exists to show
that it was done with racially discriminatory intent. (Alderman Dep. 80:1-2, 83:3€® also
Defs.” Reply Ex. 2, Alderman Dep. 84:19—85:21The coworker was reprimanded for not
properly disposing of the urine specimen in bi@hazard box in the Department and told not to
let it happen again. (AldermaDep. 84:19—86:5.) This seems lhle another instance of a
conflict with a coworker that Hurtt labels as “clisninatory” based only on the racial identity of
the coworker.

The Court finds no evidence in the recofdacial discrimination against Hurtt.
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B. Count Il: Retaliation —42 U.S.C. § 1981

Hurtt's second count is premised upon alleged retaliation by Defendants for filing
“internal complaints regarding the treatmenwtoich she has been subjected to because of her
race.” (Am. Compl. § 112.) Although not specaiily mentioned in Count I, Defendants have
provided a copy of an Equal Employment Oppoity Commission (“EEOC”) charge that Hurtt
filed September 24, 2009 (Defs.” Mot. Ex. 1), ahd Court presumes that Hurtt considers it a
part of the foundation for Count Il. It is notéaat the EEOC complaint is premised upon the
same sorts of allegedly discrimingtdehavior that were the subjexdtCount I. It is also noted
that the date of the EEOC complaint puts it ia thiddle of the administrative process relating to
Hurtt’s first five-day suspesion, which was premised upon etgenccurring in June 2009.1d(
Ex. 12.)

A plaintiff may establish grima facie case of retaliation by proving three elements:
(1) she engaged in protectedtiaty; (2) her employer tookan adverse employment action
against her; and (3) the adverse employmenbmdsi causally linked to the protected activity.
See EEOC v. Navy Fed. Credit Uni@24 F.3d 397, 405-06 (4th Cir. 2005). Although it is not
necessary that an employeeisderlying discrimination claim be meritorious to succeed on a
retaliation claim, se Ross v. Commc’ns Satellite Coifb9 F.2d 355, 357 n.1 (4th Cir. 1985),
abrogated on other grounds by i€ Waterhouse v. Hopkingl90 U.S. 228 (1989), it is
necessary that an employee have an objectively reasonable belief that the employer committed
an unlawful employment practiceee Navy Fed. Credit Unipd24 F.3d at 406Greene v. A.
Duie Pyle, Inc. 170 F. App’x. 853, 856 (4th Cir. 2006)nfublished). As the Fourth Circuit
concluded inJordan v. Alternative Resources Cqorgs8 F.3d 332, 341 (4th Cir. 2006), “no

objectively reasonable person could have believatthe [plaintiff's work environment] was, or
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was soon going to be, infected by severepervasive racist, threatening, or humiliating
harassment.” 458 F.3d at 341. “Objectively reabtmnamployees can anl recognize that not
every offensive comment will by itself transin a workplace into an abusive ondd. at 342.
This Court has found no basis whatsoever forttHor assert charges discrimination against
Defendants. Consequently, slaeked an objectively reasonalidelief that she was actually
being subjected to unlawful harassment, anddeam of retaliation fails. Even if she could
establish grima facie case, Defendants have advancegitimate, nonretaliatory reasons for
Hurtt’'s suspensions and termiraatj and Hurtt has provided noiéence that those reasons are
pretextual. See Hoyle v. Freightliner, LLC650 F.3d 321, 337 (4tkir. 2011) (applying
McDonnell Douglasburden-shifting scheme to clairof retaliation by employer against
employee). The Court presumes that Defatslavere aware of Hurtt's EEOC charge and
numerous internal complaints. But “mereokviedge on the part of an employer that an
employee . . . has filed a discrimination chargeassufficient evidence of retaliation to counter
substantial evidence of legitimate reasons’ filvesise personnel action against that employee.”
Carter v. Ball 33 F.3d 450, 460 (4th Cir. 1994) (citifgilliams v. Cerberonics, Inc871 F.2d
452, 457 (4th Cir. 1989)).

Hurtt’s claim of retaliation fails.

C. Countlll: First Amendment —42 U.S.C. § 1983

In her complaint, Hurtt algeed the following as supportive bkr claim that her rights

under the First Amendment to the UxiitStates Constitution were violated:

After the anxiety attack alleged in § 56, Hurtt was on approved leave from
November 2009 to January 2010.

Despite her approved leavklderman issued Hurtt ghonly negative evaluation
she received during hemtigre with the Alternatesjc] Sentencing Unit.
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Hurtt complained and refused to sign the evaluatiosid} yvas false, and because
it covered the period whilshe was out on leave.

Defendants disciplined Hurftbr not obeying lawful ords by refusing to sign the
evaluation, and issued her thiespension al@ged in 1 41.

Hurtt was also placed on a Perforrmanmprovement Plan (PIP) for two (2)

months.

(Am. Compl. 11 122-26.)

The Grievance Appeal Decision (“GAD II"hews that the second five-day suspension
was not premised upon Hurtt’s refusal to diggn performance evaluation but upon her ignoring
repeated, explicit instruction®ot to write comments upon her evatfion form andnstructions
to put her comments onto a separpiece of paper that woulitecome an attachment to the
evaluation. (Defs.” MotEx. 14.) Under either Hurtt'slaged scenario or GAD II's recounting
of the facts leading to her susg@m, Hurtt fails to establish @gnizable case of violation of
First Amendment rights. Further, the Court obseat Hurtt failed to include an argument as
to Count Il in her response to Defendantsotion for summary judgment. Thus, the Court
considers this argument abandoned. Even so, the Court haseceddlte evidence and the law
and has concluded the claim has no basis.

“The First Amendment right to free speech includes not only the affirmative right to
speak, but also the right to be free from retaliation by a public official for the exercise of that
right.” Suarez Corp. Industries v. McGra®02 F.3d 676, 685 (4th Cir. 2000). A valid cause of
action of retaliation for First Amendmesypeech is premised upon three elements:

First, the plaintiff must demonstrate thmas$ or her speecas protected. Second,

the plaintiff must demonstrate thatethdefendant’'s allegk retaliatory action

adversely affected the plaintiff's constitutionally protected speech. Third, the

plaintiff must demonstrate that a causahtionship exists between its speech and

the defendant’s taliatory action.

Id. at 685-86 (citations omitted).
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Whether a public employee was retaliated @agtafor speech in violation of the First
Amendment depends in part upon whetherdaimployee was speakindp@ut a matter of public
concern. Durham v. Jones737 F.3d 291, 299 (4th Cir. 2013)'Speech involves a matter of
public concern when it involves assue of social, polital, or other interesio a community.’
This does not include ‘personal complaints gmeévances about conditions of employment.™
Id. at 300-01 (citations omitted)lt is clear that Hurtt's conduch relation to her signing her
performance evaluation is not “an issue of social, political, or other interest to a community” but,
instead, is only in the category of “personamgpdaints and grievances about conditions of
employment.” Consequently, Hurtt fails to dditsh a violation of her First Amendment rights.

D. CountIV: Fifth Amendment — 42 U.S.C. § 1983

For this count, Hurtt merely alleged ath Defendants’ “above-described acts” in
paragraphs 1 through 129 of her complaint ttuted a violation ofher substantive and
procedural due process rights. (Am. Comd3%.) In her opposition to Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment, she submitted no argument offrifth Amendment claim. Thus, the Court
considers it abandoned. Even if it were not abardiohe record is repletwith evidence of a
thorough, fair process for the disciplinary demisi Defendants made. Hurtt's Fifth Amendment
claim fails.

E. CountV: Fourteenth Amendment — 42 U.S.C. § 1983

The only allegation in this count that has been previously addressed is a denial of
equal protection. (Am. Compl. IB5.) Hurtt makes vague allegatsothat O’Neill, Tyler, and
Alderman unconstitutionally uided, interpreted, and emfied employment rules and
regulations against her on thasis of her race and sexd.(T1 137-39.) Hurtt also fails to make

any argument on this claim in her oppositionCtefendants’ motion, and, consequently, this
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claim is also considered abandoned. Notwitiditag its abandonment, tldaim fails based on
a complete absence of evidence that rules ayulagons were enforcesjainst her on the basis
of her race and sex.

F. Count VI: Conspiracy to Interfere vth Civil Rights — 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)

In Hurtt’s last count, shelaims Defendants conspired tieprive her of due process,
equal protection, and equal priygles and immunities under the lawém. Compl. 1 144.) As
with other claims, Hurtt has abandoned thisnelhy her failure to include any argument on it in
her opposition to Defendants’ motion. And as with the other abandoned claims, the Court has
examined the record and hamihd absolutely no evidence of anspiracy to deprive Hurtt of
any constitutional righbn the basis of a “racial, or perlsaptherwise clasbased, invidiously
discriminatory animus.”Griffin v. Breckenridge403 U.S. 88, 102 (1971)See also A Society
without a Name v. Virginia655 F.3d 342, 346 (4th Cir. 201({0ne element of section 1985(3)
claim is specific class-based, idiously discriminatory animusgert. denied132 S. Ct. 1960

(2012). This claim also fails.

IV. Conclusion
The Court concludes that no genuine disputmaferial fact exists and that Defendants

are entitled to judgment as a mattetasf. A separate order will issue.

DATED this 10th day of February, 2014.

BY THE COURT:

[
JAmes K. Bredar
UnitedState<District Judge
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